IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

ALFREDO PEREZ, JR.,

Defendant and Respondent.

S238354

FILED

MAR 2 1 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, No. F069020 Fresno County Superior Court No. CF94509578

Hon. Jonathan Conklin, Judge

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ELIZABETH CAMPBELL
Attorney at Law
State Bar No. 166960
PMB 334
3104 O Street
Sacramento, CA 95816
(530) 786-4108
campbell166960@gmail.com
Attorney for Respondent

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
RESPONI	ENT'	S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS 1
INTRODU	CTIO	N 1
STATEME	ENT O	F THE CASE AND FACTS 4
ARGUME	NT	9
I.	Mat Assa Tha	Court of Appeal Erred in Finding That, as a ter of Law, a Person Convicted of Aggravated aulted Who Uses a Vehicle in the Commission of t Offense Has Necessarily Used a Deadly apon
	В.	A Conviction for Aggravated Assault under Former Section 245, subdivision (a)(1), Does Not Render an Inmate Facially Ineligible for Resentencing under the Three Strikes Reform Act
	C.	The Court of Appeal Erred in Holding That the Jury Verdict Necessarily Encompassed a Finding That Respondent Used the Car as a Deadly Weapon

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>

II.	THE COURT OF APPEAL INCORRECTLY APPLIED THE STANDARD OF REVIEW AND FAILED TO ACCORD PROPER DEFERENCE TO THE FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT		
	A.	A Reviewing Court Should Uphold the Factual Findings of a Court Determining a Petitioner's Eligibility under Penal Code Section 1170.126 if Those Findings Are Supported by Substantial Evidence	
	В.	The Trial Court's Finding That Mr. Perez Was Not Armed Was Supported by Substantial Evidence	
III.	RELII JURY A JUR AMEN	THE COURT FOUND MR. PEREZ INELIGIBLE FOR EF BASED ON FACTS NOT FOUND TRUE BY THE , IT WOULD HAVE DEPRIVED HIM OF HIS RIGHT TO RY TRIAL UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH NOMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES STITUTION	
CONCLUS	ION .	47	
CERTIFIC	ATE C	OF WORD COUNT 47	
DECLARA	TION	OF SERVICE 48	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
Cases
Alleyne v. United States 133 S.Ct. 2151 41
Apprendi v. New Jersey (2000) 530 U.S. 466 42, 43, 46
Descamps v. United States (2013) 133 S.Ct. 2276 45
Dillon v. United States (2010) 560 U.S. 817 44, 45
Harris v. United States (2002) 536 U.S. 466 passim
In re D.T. (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 693 24, 25, 26
People v. Aguilar (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1023 16, 22
People v. Arevalo (2016) 244 Cal.App.4th 836
People v. Aznavoleh (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 1181 passim
People v. Banuelos (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 601 14
People v. Blakely (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1042
People v. Bradford (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 1322 passim
People v. Brookins (1989) 215 Cal. App. 3d 1297
People v. Cervantes (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1007
People v. Delgado (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1059
People v. Elder (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 1308
People v. Feyrer (2010) 48 Cal.4th 426
People v. Fox (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 424
People v. Gaitan (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 540
People v. Graham (1969) 71 Cal. 2d 303 passim
People v. Guerrero (1988) 44 Cal.3d 343 17, 34, 45
People v. Haykel (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 146 13, 15
People v. Hazelton (1996) 14 Cal.4th 101
People v. Hicks (2014) 231 Cal.App.4th 275 passim
People v. Hughes (2012) 202 Cal.App.4th 1473
People v. Kaulick (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 1279 44
People v. Lochtefeld (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 533
People v. Luna (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 395
People v. Martinez (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 979
People v. McCoy (1944) 25 Cal.2d 177
People v. Moran (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 724
People v. Nguyen (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1007
People v. Oehmigen (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 1 17, 18
People v. Osuna (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1020

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>
People v. Page (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1466 22, 25, 26 People v. Raleigh (1932) 128 Cal.App. 105 9, 21, 25 People v. Ray (1975) 14 Cal.3d 20 9, 21 People v. White (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 1040 30 People v. Williams (2001) 26 Cal.4th 779 passim People v. Winters (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 273 13 People v. Woodell (1998) 17 Cal.4th 448 17, 45 People v. Wright (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 703 18, 19 People v. Wyatt (2010) 48 Cal.4th 776 20 People v. Yearwood (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 161 10 Rossi v. Brown (1995) 9 Cal.4th 688 15 Williams v. Superior Court (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 612 passim
Codes
18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A)
Pen. Code, § 211 22 Pen. Code, § 245 passim Pen. Code, § 667 passim Pen. Code, § 667.5 7 Pen. Code § 1170.12 passim Pen. Code, § 1170.126 passim Pen. Code, § 1197.2 13
Constitutional Provisions
United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment 2, 41, 42, 43 United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment 2, 41, 42, 43

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

ALFREDO PEREZ, JR.,

Defendant and Respondent.

S238354

F069020

Fresno County Superior Court No. CF94509578

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS INTRODUCTION

On January 11, 2017, this court granted review on the following issues:

- 1. Is a petitioner ineligible for recall of his sentence under Penal Code section 1170.126 where he personally and intentionally used a vehicle in a manner likely to result in great bodily injury, even if the evidence in the record of conviction did not demonstrate an intent to use the vehicle as a deadly weapon?
- 2. Where a trial court makes a factual determination regarding a petitioner's eligibility for resentencing under Penal Code section 1170.126, and that factual determination is supported by substantial evidence in

- the record of conviction, should a Court of Appeal defer to those factual findings?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeal, in reversing the order granting the recall petition based on facts not found true by a jury, deprive respondent of his right to jury trial as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

After serving approximately 19 years in state prison for a 1995 conviction for assault by means likely to result in great bodily injury (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)(1)), respondent Alfredo Perez successfully petitioned the Fresno County Superior Court to recall his sentence under Penal Code section 1170.126. In granting the petition, the court found that, based on the facts contained in the record of conviction, Mr. Perez had not used a deadly weapon in the commission of the offense. (RT 26.)1 A sharply divided Court of Appeal for the Fifth Appellate District reversed the holding of the trial court, and remanded with directions to the lower court to reverse the finding of eligibility and reinstate the life sentence. (People v. Perez (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 812, 828-829.) The majority held that, although Mr. Perez was neither charged with nor convicted of assault with a deadly weapon, as a matter of law, where an automobile is used as the "sole means" by which the defendant applied force likely to result in a great bodily injury, the defendant is ineligible for relief under Penal Code section

¹"CT" refers to the clerk's transcript on appeal; "RT" refers to the reporter's transcript.

1170.126, under the exclusionary language of Penal Code section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iii) and section 1170.12, subdivision (c)(2)(C)(iii) (hereinafter "clause (iii)"). (*People v. Perez, supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at p. 825.)

The majority opinion ignores the thoughtful fact-finding of the superior court, and draws an unjustifiably rigid legal line around what is ultimately a fact-based inquiry. Respondent respectfully requests that this court reverse the holding of the Court of Appeal and reinstate the order recalling his life sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS²

On Marcy 17, 1994, the day before the incident that formed the basis of the charges in this case, Fred Sanchez was working as a sales clerk in an auto parts store when he saw a man he later identified as Alfredo Perez, along with a man referred to in the court's opinion as "the passenger," enter the store. (CT 52.) The passenger was wearing a wool jacket and had his back to Mr. Sanchez, and Mr. Sanchez saw him raise a Club, an anti-theft device, above his head and then lower it. (CT 52.) Mr. Perez spoke briefly to the passenger and then spoke to Mr. Sanchez about some tires. While the conversation was taking place, the passenger left the store, and Mr. Sanchez saw him go to the parking lot and wait in a Blazer-type truck. (CT 52.) Mr. Perez went to the driver's side of the truck and drove away. (CT 52.)

Mr. Sanchez suspected that the passenger had stolen the club while Mr. Perez had attempted to divert Mr. Sanchez's attention. (CT 52.) Mr. Sanchez did not, however, notify police or check the store's inventory to see if a Club had been stolen. (CT 53.)

The next day, March 18, Mr. Sanchez saw the same passenger enter the store. He was wearing the same wool jacket, even though the day was hot. (CT 53.) The passenger appeared nervous and kept turning his back toward Mr. Sanchez. Mr.

²The statement of facts is summarized from the Court of Appeal opinion in case number F023703, filed on November 5, 1996. (CT 50.)

Sanchez asked him if he needed help, and then followed the passenger out of the rear of the store after alerting another employee. (CT 53.) Mr. Sanchez heard rustling in the passenger's clothes. (CT 53.) The passenger had not paid for any items from the store. (CT 53.)

The passenger entered the same Blazer, again with Mr. Perez in the driver's seat; the passenger side window was rolled down. (CT 53.) Mr. Sanchez was wearing a red smock shirt with the store insignia and his name tag. (CT 53.) The passenger had been in the car for less than a minute when Mr. Sanchez came up to his window. Mr. Sanchez saw a bulge in the passenger's clothing, and told the passenger to please give the merchandise back and then he could leave. (CT 53.)

Mr. Sanchez reached into the car and grabbed at the package in the passenger's jacket. Mr. Sanchez identified it as a Club with a retail value of \$59.55. Mr. Sanchez said, "Give it up." Mr. Perez then looked toward Mr. Sanchez and said, "Give it up." (CT 53.)

Mr. Perez then drove the vehicle in reverse. The passenger grabbed Mr. Sanchez's arm and pushed it down, preventing Mr. Sanchez from pulling his arm out of the window. Mr. Sanchez yelled, "Stop the vehicle," three times as the vehicle was moving in reverse. (CT 53.) He was dragged and had to run to keep his balance. (CT 53.) Mr. Perez then drove the vehicle forward; Mr. Sanchez was able to pull his arm free at that point, but feared that if he fell he would be run over. (CT 53.)

Mr. Sanchez variously estimated the speed of the Blazer between 10 and 20 miles per hour, but admitted that at the preliminary hearing he had testified that the vehicle started at 10 miles an hour and was doing 15 when he pulled his arm free. (CT 53.) He estimated that the entire incident took a minute and that his arm was in the moving vehicle for about 15 seconds, and that the vehicle traveled about 50 feet forward. (CT 53-54.)

Mr. Sanchez was able to provide a license plate for the vehicle; it was registered to Mr. Perez and his wife. (CT 54.)

Another store employee witnessed the events and characterized it as Mr. Sanchez being dragged and "running for his life." (CT 54.)

Both store employees identified photographs of Mr. Perez. (CT 54.)

Mr. Perez testified and denied being in the store on March 17; he and his father both testified that he had been elsewhere at the time. (CT 54.) Mr. Perez testified that on March 18, he was looking for a tire store when he met a friend named Elizabeth Ornelas, who offered him five dollars to give her acquaintance, "Don," a ride to an auto parts store to get a part to fix her vehicle. (CT 54.) Mr. Perez testified that he drove to the store and waited in the car while Don went inside. When Don returned to the car, he was angry with another man; Mr. Perez was not aware that the man was a store employee. (CT 54.) When Mr. Perez said "give it up," he was talking to his passenger, not to Mr. Sanchez, and that he meant for the passenger to quit fighting. (CT 54.)

Mr. Perez testified that he had been afraid; he admitted driving one or two miles an hour in reverse and two to three miles

an hour in drive, and stated that at no time did Mr. Sanchez have to run. (CT 54.) He admitted that Mr. Sanchez's arm had been inside the vehicle when he put the car into reverse and when he drove forward. (CT 54.) Mr. Perez testified that after leaving the parking lot, he told the passenger to get out and returned the gas money. (CT 54.)

Mr. Perez told the investigating officer that the passenger had told him to leave because the man was trying to rob him. (CT 55.)

Ms. Ornelas testified that she had asked Mr. Perez to give a ride to man she had recently met in order to buy a part for the disabled vehicle they had been driving. At trial she testified that she had made this request at a red light; prior to trial she had stated that it took place in a parking lot. (CT 55.)

On April 4, 1995, Mr. Perez was convicted of one violation of Penal Code section 245, subdivision (a)(1), assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury. (CT 6.) Due to his two prior serious felony convictions, Mr. Perez was sentence to a term of 25 years to life, with two one-year enhancements under Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (b). (CT 6.)

On August 16, 2013, Mr. Perez filed a petition to recall his sentence under Penal Code section 1170.126. (CT 8.) Following a hearing, the court found Mr. Perez eligible for resentencing on February 5, 2014. (CT 967, RT 26.) On March 7, 2014, the court further found that Mr. Perez's release would not pose an unreasonable risk to public safety. (CT 1016, RT 40.) The court

accordingly denied probation and sentenced Mr. Perez to the upper term of four years in state prison, doubled to eight years, with two additional years for the prior prison term enhancements. (CT 1017, RT 43.)

On March 7, 2014, the People filed timely notice of appeal. (CT 1020.) In a published opinion issued on September 29, 2016, the Court of Appeal reversed the order finding him eligible for release. (See *People v. Perez* (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 812.) This court granted Mr. Perez's petition for review on January 11, 2017.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FINDING THAT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, A PERSON CONVICTED OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULTED WHO USES A VEHICLE IN THE COMMISSION OF THAT OFFENSE HAS NECESSARILY USED A DEADLY WEAPON

Before finding that Mr. Perez did not pose an unreasonable risk to public safety and resentencing him to a determinate term pursuant to Penal Code section 1170.126 (CT 1016), the trial court found that he was not ineligible for resentencing "based on the method in which the motor vehicle was used." (CT 967.) A majority of the Court of Appeal panel rejected this finding, holding that, as a matter of law, when a person uses an automobile in the commission of an assault by means of force likely to result in great bodily injury, he has necessarily also been armed with a deadly weapon within the meaning of Penal Code sections 667, subdivision (e)(2)(iii), and 1170.12, subdivision (c)(2)(C)(iii). (People v. Perez (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 812, 820, 825.)

This holding is contrary to settled law. Where the People seek to prove that a defendant was armed with an instrument that is not inherently dangerous, they must prove that, under the facts of the case, the instrument was employed or intended to be employed as a deadly weapon. (See *People v. Graham* (1969) 71 Cal. 2d 303, 327-328, disapproved on other grounds in *People v. Ray* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 20, 30; see also *People v. Raleigh* (1932) 128 Cal.App. 105.) This is a fact-based inquiry and not one subject to

rigid legal line-drawing. Respondent respectfully requests that this court reverse the holding of the Court of Appeal and reinstate the order recalling his life sentence.

A. The Three Strikes Reform Act

In 2012, the Three Strikes Reform Act was enacted by the voters with the adoption of Proposition 36. (Pen. Code, § 1170.126 et seq.) The Reform Act created a post-conviction release proceeding for life prisoners sentenced under the Three Strikes Law for nonserious and nonviolent felonies. A person serving a three strikes sentence who meets the criteria set out in section 1170.126, subdivision (e), is to be resentenced as a second strike offender unless the court determines such resentencing would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety. (Pen. Code, § 1170.126, subd. (f); *People v. Yearwood* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 161, 168.)

A person serving a life sentence under the Three Strikes

Law is ineligible for resentencing under the Reform Act if his or
her current sentence is for an offense listed in Penal Code section
667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(i)-(iii), or Penal Code section 1170.12,
subdivision (c)(2)(C)(i)-(iii). The disqualifying factor at issue in this
case is listed in clause (iii) of these identical provisions:

During the commission of the current offense, the defendant used a firearm, was armed with a firearm or deadly weapon, or intended to cause great bodily injury to another person.

(Pen. Code, § 667, subd. (e)(2)(iii); Pen. Code § 1170.12, subd. (c)(2)(C)(iii).)³

Under section 1170.126, the trial court only has the authority to determine whether a third strike offender is eligible for resentencing if the inmate satisfies the criteria set out in subdivision (e) of section 1170.126. As relevant here, those criteria are: (1) the petitioner is serving a life term under the three strikes law for a conviction of a felony or felonies not defined as serious or violent under section 1170.126; (2) the petitioner's current sentence was not imposed for an offense in which the defendant used or was armed with a firearm or deadly weapon (see Pen. Code, § 667, subd. (e)(2)(iii); Pen. Code § 1170.12, subd. (c)(2)(C)(iii)); and (3) the petitioner has no prior convictions for certain specified offenses. If the inmate does not satisfy each of the criteria, the trial court must deny the request for resentencing. (Pen. Code, § 1170.126, subd. (e); People v. Perez, supra, 3 Cal.App.5th at pp. 831-832, dis. opn. of Franson, J.) As the dissenting justice noted below, respondent satisfied the first and third requirement, and this appeal thus relates to the second requirement. (*Ibid.*)

 $^{^3}$ These identical provisions will be referred to as "clause (iii)."

B. A Conviction for Aggravated Assault under Former Section 245, subdivision (a)(1), Does Not Render an Inmate Facially Ineligible for Resentencing under the Three Strikes Reform Act

The Court of Appeal correctly noted that respondent's current offense is not a serious or violent offense. (*People v. Perez, supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at p. 816.) At the time of the instant offense, Penal Code section 245, subdivision (a)(1), applied to any person who committed an assault with a deadly weapon "or by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury." (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)(1).)⁴ The abstract of judgment lists the offense of which respondent was convicted as "assault by means of force likely to produce GBI." (CT 6.) Moreover, the instructions provided to the jury defined only "by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury;" the jury was not instructed on use of a deadly weapon.⁵ Thus, there is no question in this case as to whether Mr. Perez was convicted under the deadly weapon theory of Penal Code

⁴For ease of reference, respondent will refer to this offense as "aggravated assault." A violation of section 240, "an unlawful attempt, coupled with a present ability, to commit a violent injury on the person of another," is a simple assault. The additional element of "use of force likely to create great bodily injury" under former section 245, subdivision (a)(1) defines the felony of aggravated assault. (*Williams v. Superior Court* (2001) 92 Cal. App. 4th 612, 615, fn 2.) The alternate theory of liability under Penal Code section 245, subdivision (a)(1), will be referred to as "assault with a deadly weapon."

⁵The Court of Appeal granted the People's request to take judicial notice of selected jury instructions provided to the jury. (*People v. Perez, supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at p. 819, fn. 4.)

section 245, subdivision (a)(1), or the "use of force by means likely to result in great bodily injury" theory, i.e., aggravated assault. (Williams v. Superior Court (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 612, 624.) The record here is clear that he was convicted only of the latter.

Prior to its amendment in 2011, Penal Code section 245, subdivision (a)(1), could be proven in two distinct ways: either by committing an assault with a deadly weapon, or by committing an assault by means of force likely to result in great bodily injury. (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)(1)⁶; People v. Winters (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 273, 275.) A conviction under the former theory is a serious felony within the meaning of the Three Strikes Law; a conviction under the latter is not. (Pen. Code, § 1197.2, subd. (c)(31); People v. Fox (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 424, 434, fn. 8; People v. Haykel (2002) 96 Cal. App. 4th 146, 148–149; People v. Winters (2001) 93 Cal. App. 4th 273, 280; Williams v. Superior Court, supra, 92 Cal.App.4th at pp. 622–624.) Similarly, a conviction for assault with a deadly weapon is an excludable offense under the Three Strikes Reform Act, and a conviction for aggravated assault, standing alone, is not. (People v. Feyrer (2010) 48 Cal.4th 426, 442, fn. 8; People v. Nguyen (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1007, 1029, fn. 1; People

者は、後の子のなる

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