In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

ALFREDO PEREZ, JR.,

Defendant and Respondent.

Case No. S238354

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 14 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F069020 Fresno County Superior Court, Case No. CF94509578 The Honorable Jonathan Conklin, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LISA A. SMITTCAMP
Fresno County District Attorney
TRACI FRITZLER
Chief Deputy District Attorney
DOUGLAS O. TREISMAN
Senior Deputy District Attorney
State Bar No. 131986
3333 E. American Ave., Ste. F

Fresno, CA 93725 Telephone: (559) 600-4923

FAX: (559) 600-4900

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

Perez concedes that, "[t]he Court of Appeal . . . correctly found . . . [that] [felony assault] does not automatically disqualify an inmate from resentencing under the Reform Act." (RB,15, citing *People v. Perez, supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at p. 824; see also *People v. Haykel* (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 146, 149; *Williams v. Superior Court* [(2001)] 92 Cal.App.4th 612.) Perez also concedes that [a felony assault], can become a serious felony or disqualifying crime under section 1170.126. (RB,14, citing *People v. Banuelos* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 601, 605.)

As a result, Perez does not disagree "that under some circumstances an automobile may be used as a deadly weapon and may thus disqualify a petitioner from resentencing under Penal Code section 1170.126." (RB, 17.) What Perez argues is that a car can be used "in the commission of a crime" "in ways that that do not render it a 'deadly weapon' under the law." (RB, 17.) And in explaining his concessions, citing the dissenting opinion, Perez observes that "the question of whether a car so qualifies is always dependent upon the circumstances of the individual case. (Cf. *People v. Perez, supra,* 3 Cal.App.5th at pp. 834-836, dis. opn. of Franson, J.)" (RB, 17.)

Perez makes two arguments as to why his undisputed SUV use and the jury's guilty verdict of the crime of felony assault do not, in his view, support the majority opinion: He argues that the law requires specific intent and that he did not have a specific intent to use the SUV as a weapon. (RB,19-27.)⁶ And second, Perez argues that "the Court of Appeal erred in holding that the jury verdict necessarily encompassed a finding that [Perez] used the [SUV] as a deadly weapon." (RB, 16.)

Both of these assertions are incorrect and without support in the law.

A. Specific intent is not an element in arming or use of a vehicle as a weapon.

In rendering its verdict, the jury in the underlying case was instructed on the elements of a felony assault, including mental state. This Court, in addressing the question of whether felony assault requires a specific intent, both concluded that specific intent is not required but also clarified the mental state in a felony assault. Citing its earlier decision in *People v*. *Colantuono* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 206, 214, the Court explained that "the mens rea for assault is established upon proof the defendant willfully committed an act that by its nature will probably and directly result in injury to another, i.e., a battery." The Court went on to clarify, "we hold that assault does not require a specific intent to cause injury or a subjective awareness of the risk that an injury might occur. Rather, assault only requires an intentional act and actual knowledge of those facts sufficient to establish

⁶ Although Perez writes, "intent" to use the SUV as a deadly or dangerous weapon, because the jury specifically found Perez's "act" was willful, and willful is defined as intentional (*People v. Wright* (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 703, 711, citing CALJIC No. 9.00 (1994 rev.) ["the person committing the act did so intentionally"]), the act of driving the SUV backward and forward (the only act that Perez did) was intentional. The People conclude that Perez is referring to a mental state of specific intent to use the SUV as weapon.

that the act by its nature will probably and directly result in the application of physical force against another." (*People v. Williams* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 779, 790, emphasis added.)⁷

Perez ignores this Court's precedent, instead setting forth a number of cases, insisting in each one that the determination of arming relies on the perpetrator's intent. (RB, 18-27.) Perez begins with *People v. Oehmigen* (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 1, ("*Oehmigen*"). Perez concedes that "*Oehmigen* is both factually and legally <u>indistinguishable</u> from the instant case." (RB, 18, emphasis added.) However, Perez states that, "[n]otably, in *Oehmigen* there was no question of the defendant's intent to use the car as a deadly weapon." (*Id.*)

But that claim is wrong. In *Oehmigen*, the accused contested the use of the vehicle as a weapon and sought to exclude the prosecutor's recitation of facts as an adoptive admission and a part of the record of conviction. (*Oehmigen, supra,* 232 Cal.App.4th at p. 6 [a review of the probation report revealed that the "defendant had been actively contesting the legal conclusion that his conduct constituted an assault; this demonstrates that his silence at the time of the plea was not inadvertent or unconsidered"].)

Oehmigen concludes that the defendant's intent was not known and was not relevant to the determination of whether he was armed in the commission of the offense:

Defendant fails to support his bald statements that he did not have any opportunity to contest the recited circumstances, that it is 'sheer speculation' that he personally used the car in a

⁷ Although *People v. Williams* addressed assault with a deadly weapon, the elements and mental state for the purposes of this analysis are identical. The *mens rea* for assault "requires actual knowledge of the facts sufficient to establish that the defendant's act by its nature will probably and directly result in injury to another." (*People v. Williams, supra, 26* Cal.4th at p. 782.)

manner rendering it a deadly weapon, or that the facts recited do not establish an intent to inflict great bodily injury as opposed to reckless indifference to that outcome. Even if the latter argument may be a colorable claim in light of the difficulty in giving *retroactive* effect to a criterion based on a mental state (that is subject *prospectively* to pleading and proof), this does not detract from the disqualifying facts of being irrefutably armed with a car and using it purposefully in a dangerous fashion (with whatever intent defendant may have had).

(*Oehmigen, supra,* 232 Cal.App.4th at p. 6, citing *People v. Burton* (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 447, 451-452.)

In determining eligibility under section 1170.126, based on whether assault involved use of the SUV as a deadly weapon, *Oehmigen* correctly found intent of the defendant, "whatever intent defendant may have had," was irrelevant to the conviction and the facts supporting the use of a weapon. (*Oehmigen, supra*, 232 Cal.App.4th at p. 6.) Perez's assertion that there was no question of the defendant's intent to use the car as a deadly weapon as well as his effort to parley intent into the central issue, is terribly misplaced. While there was no question of his intentional use of the SUV, his specific intent was never an issue and was not determined by the jury or court.

Perez explains that *People v. Wright* "did not consider the question of whether the car was employed as a deadly weapon." (RB, 19.) However, because the conviction in that case was assault with a deadly weapon and the court sustained the conviction, finding that the jury found defendant's "conduct would probably and directly result in the application of physical force upon Dircksen and McHenry and there is substantial evidence to support that finding," there was, in fact, a finding that a deadly weapon was used. (*People v. Wright, supra,* 100 Cal.App.4th at p. 725 ("*Wright*").)

The *Wright* court took issue with *Williams* because *Wright* concluded that *Williams* would support a conviction for felony assault on a negligence

theory, based on this Court's rejection of *People v. Smith* (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 1470 and the lack of a subjective state required of a defendant. (*People v. Wright, supra*, 100 Cal.App.4th at p. 712, quoting *Williams, supra*, 26 Cal.4th at pp. 787-788, fn. omitted ["In other words, a defendant guilty of assault must be aware of the facts that would lead a reasonable person to realize that a battery would directly, naturally and probably result from his conduct. He may not be convicted based on facts he did not know but should have known. He, however, need not be subjectively aware of the risk that a battery might occur."].)

Perez conducts a similar analysis of *People v. Aznavoleh* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 1181 ("*Aznavoleh*"). Aznavoleh "deliberately races through a red light at a busy intersection and collides with another vehicle, causing injury to another." (*Aznavoleh, supra*, at p. 1183.) The case involved an assertion that the facts were insufficient to support a conviction for assault with a deadly weapon. Although the trial court had improperly instructed the jury that to convict for assault with a deadly weapon, the "defendant could not be convicted of assault unless he actually knew that his reckless driving would cause injury to another," the error inured to the defendant's benefit and the evidence was found sufficient to sustain the verdict. (*Aznavoleh, supra*, at p. 1183.)

⁸ The Third District Court of Appeal had opined that the mental state for assault is an intent to commit a battery. (*People v. Smith* (1997) 57 Cal. App.4th 1470, 1484.) However, based on this Court's opinion in *Williams*, the Third District reversed itself in *Wright*. The court wrote at length "that language similar to CALJIC No. 9.00 misdefined the mental state for assault because it encompassed a negligence standard." (*Wright, supra*, 100 Cal.App.4th at pp. 705-706.)

Perez argues that *People v. Bradford* (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 1322, requires intent as an element of arming. (RB,24.) But *Bradford* addresses the denial of resentencing by the trial court based on eligibility where a petitioner was found armed because of his mere possession of a pair of wire cutters during the commission of an offense. The court of appeal looked to the record of conviction to determine the manner of use of the wire cutters and found nothing that would demonstrate that the wire cutters, certainly an object that is not inherently a weapon, were used as a weapon in the commission of the offense. (*Bradford*, *supra*, at pp. 1341-1343.)

While Perez concedes that *Bradford* never uses the word "intent" in the opinion (RB, 24), he maintains that it was Bradford's intent that the court found to be the missing element. (RB,24.) But any reading of the opinion makes clear that Perez is mistaken. Summarizing its conclusion, *Bradford* states, "[u]nder the circumstances, the trial court could not conclude that petitioner was armed with a deadly weapon. No facts establish that the wire cutters were designed for use as a weapon, they were not used as a weapon, and there is no evidence to clearly establish they were being carried for use as a weapon. In fact, the evidence in the trial court record [based on the defendant's statement] implies the wire cutters were being carried for the purpose of removing security tags from stolen merchandise." (*People v. Bradford, supra, 227 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1342-1343.*) *Bradford* does not address intent, specific or otherwise.

The reason for Perez's reliance on the above cases was explained with the following assertion:

In order to prove that a defendant is armed with a deadly weapon, however, the People must prove that the weapon was one that was inherently dangerous or deadly, or prove that the defendant intended to or in fact did use the instrument as a deadly or dangerous weapon. This requires proof of intent that is not required, and here was not pleaded or proven or otherwise established by the evidence, in a case of aggravated assault.

(RB, 20.)

Perez provides no authority for this proposition. But more, he conflates the element in assault of a willful or intentional act with the "manner of use" inquiry in determining the character of an object. In so doing, Perez concludes that the eligibility inquiry requires a specific intent to use or actual use of the instrument as a deadly or dangerous weapon.

However, because Perez actually used the SUV as the instrumentality of the felony assault, his own syllogism would appear to concede that through its use, the SUV was a dangerous or deadly weapon. But, Perez continues this analysis by noting the distinction between inherently dangerous or deadly weapons and those "which are not weapons in the strict sense of the word and are not dangerous or deadly to others in the ordinary use for which they are designed." (RB, 21, citing *People v. Graham* (1969) 71 Cal.2d 303, 327-328, disapproved on other grounds in *People v. Ray* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 20, 30.)

The People agree that there are inherently dangerous or deadly weapons as one class and a second class of objects that are not inherently dangerous or deadly but which may be used as weapons. What determines whether items within this second class are being used as weapons is the manner of the item's use: In defining a deadly weapon, CALCRIM No. 3130 states that "[a] deadly weapon is any object, instrument, or weapon that is inherently deadly or dangerous or one that is used in such a way that it is capable and likely to cause death or great bodily injury." The determination of whether an item is a "deadly weapon" has turned on the nature of the item or the manner of use, not intent. (See, e.g., *People v. Aguilar* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1023, 1029; CALCRIM No. 875.)

Some few objects, such as dirks and blackjacks, have been held to be deadly weapons as a matter of law; the ordinary use for which they are designed establishes their character as such. [Citation.] Other objects, while not deadly per se, may be used,

under certain circumstances, in a manner likely to produce death or great bodily injury. In determining whether an object not inherently deadly or dangerous is used as such, the trier of fact may consider the nature of the object, the manner in which it is used, and all other facts relevant to the issue. [Citations.]

(People v. Aguilar, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-1029.)

Unlike Aguilar, Graham is an old case addressing no longer existing elements of first degree robbery; "[t]o convict defendants of robbery of the first degree, Penal Code, § 211a (Deering) require[d] that the robbery be perpetrated by a person 'armed with a dangerous or deadly weapon.'" (People v. Graham, supra, 71 Cal.2d 303, 327.) In Graham the court addressed whether a shod foot used to stomp a victim during a robbery was a dangerous or deadly weapon and whether the jury was properly instructed.

To correct an instructional error, the following portion of an instruction was required by the court where a weapon that was not inherently dangerous was involved: "Before you may find a defendant guilty of robbery of the first degree, you must find the following to be true beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) that the defendant is guilty of robbery as I have defined it; (2) that at least one of the perpetrators of the robbery possessed an instrumentality which was capable of being used by him in a dangerous or deadly manner; and (3) that its possessor intended to use the instrumentality in the robbery as a weapon of offense or defense should the circumstances require." (*People v. Graham, supra, 71* Cal.2d 303, 328-30.)

Based on the third element, it might appear that *Graham* lends some support to Perez's argument. However, *Graham* relied entirely on *People v. Raleigh* for its reasoning and conclusion. (*People v. Raleigh* (1932) 128 Cal.App. 105 ("*Raleigh*").) *Raleigh* makes clear that it is the specific intent requirement of <u>robbery</u> rather than arming that brought about the language addressing intent used by *Graham. Raleigh*, in fact, explicitly contrasts the

requirements of arming in the old first degree robbery statute versus assault with a deadly weapon, and in reference to inherently dangerous weapons versus those that are dangerous based on their manner of use:

When it appears, however, that an instrumentality other than one falling within the first class [those inherently dangerous] is capable of being used in a 'dangerous or deadly' manner, and it may be fairly inferred from the evidence that its possessor intended on a particular occasion to use it as a weapon should the circumstances require, we believe that its character as a 'dangerous or deadly weapon' may be thus established, at least for the purposes of that occasion.

(*Raleigh, supra,* 128 Cal.App. at pp. 108-109.)

But the *Raleigh* court went on to contrast robbery with assault in the context of determining the character of a weapon. The court explained that in assault *the element of present ability takes the place of intent to use the object* in robbery:

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